FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/19/2020 4:52 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98703-3

Court of Appeals No. 76465-9 (consolidated with No. 79860-0 and No. 78060-3)

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MORRIS A. WINTER, *Petitioner*,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Morris A. Winter PO Box 6486 Bellevue, WA 98007 Pro Se Petitioner

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV. REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW 7
A. Vacating a VAPO is a statutory right of the vulnerable adult and not subject to any judicial discretion
B. This case presents an issue of substantial public interest because the Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that DSHS has the right to oppose a nonconsenting vulnerable adult's right to vacate a protection order. RAP 13.4(b)(4)9
C. This case presents a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions. RAP 13.4(b)(3)
D. Even though the VAPO by its terms expired in June 2020, this appeal is not moot
V. CONCLUSION
APPENDIX A - Court of Appeals Published Opinion No 76465-9-I, filed March 30, 2020
APPENDIX B - Court of Appeals Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration to Amend Opinion, filed May 29, 2020 <u>B-0</u>

),
<u>C-0</u>
tive D-0
E-0
i

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases
State v. Arlene's Flowers, 193 Wn.2d 469, 509, 441 P.3d 1203 (2019)
Wash. State Dep't of Transp. v. Mullen Trucking, Ltd., 194 Wn.2d 526, 451 P.3d 312, 320 (2019). 12
Freeman v. Freeman, 169 Wn.2d 664, 239 P.3d 557 (2010)
Hough v. Stockbridge, 113 Wn. App. 532, 537, 54 P.3d 192 (2002) 15
<i>In re Knight</i> , 178 Wn. App. 929, 930-31, 317 P.3d 1068 (2014) <u>13</u> , <u>14</u>
<i>Littleton v. Grover</i> , No. 51217-3-II, 2019 WL 1150759, at *3 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 12, 2019)
<i>Morris Winter v. Department of Social & Health Services</i> , No. 76465-9, 12 Wn. App. 2d 815, 460 P.3d 667 (2020)
Pentagram Corp. v. City of Seattle, 28 Wn. App. 219, 223, 622 P.2d 892 (1981)
Perez-Cristanos v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 187 Wn.2d 669, 680, 389 P.3d 476 (2017)
<i>Price v. Price</i> , 174 Wn. App. 894, 902, 301 P.3d 486 (2013) <u>14</u> , <u>16</u>
Rousso v. State, 170 Wn.2d 70, 75, 239 P.3d 1084 (2010)
Segura v. Cabrera, 184 Wn.2d 587, 591, 362 P.2d 1278 (2015) 12
Tegman v. Accident & Med. Investigations, 150 Wn.2d 102, 115, 75 P.3d 497 (2003)
Wash. Independent Tel. Ass'n v. Wash. Utils. & Transp. Comm'n, 148 Wn.2d 887, 901, 64 P.3d 606 (2003)

Statutes and Court Rules

Chapter 74.34 RCW		
RAP 13.4(b)(3)		
RAP 13.4(b)(4)		
RCW 74.34.005		
RCW 74.34.020(19), Protective Services definition		
RCW 74.34.020(4)		
RCW 74.34.067(7)		
RCW 74.34.110		
RCW 74.34.140		
RCW 74.34.150		
RCW 74.34.163		
Other Authorities		
Antonin Scalia & Bryan Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 93 (2012)		
Domestic Violence Bench Guide for Judicial Officers, Revised 2015 E-0		

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER, CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION, AND INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Morris Winter asks this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals' published decision in *Morris Winter v. Department of Social & Health Services*, No. 76465-9, 12 Wn. App. 2d 815, 460 P.3d 667 (2020) (attached as Appendix A), issued on March 30, 2020. An order denying a motion for reconsideration was issued on May 29, 2020 (Appendix B). On June 30 2020 this Court issued Order No 25700-B-611 assigning Supreme Court No. 98703-3 to this case and extending the time to file the petition for review to August 19, 2020 (Appendix C).

This case implicates the careful balance that the Legislature struck in protecting a historically vulnerable population while simultaneously maintaining that population's rights to personal autonomy and freedom of choice. The Legislature struck that balance by granting *limited* authority to the Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS) to act on behalf of vulnerable adults.

The Court of Appeals' published decision here has dramatically upset that careful balance by granting DSHS unfettered authority to override the autonomy and freedom of choice of all vulnerable adults in Washington. If left to stand, that decision would diminish the rights of thousands of vulnerable adults across Washington who, at some time, gave DSHS consent

to provide protective services. At its core, the decision allows DSHS at any time to refuse to honor vulnerable adults' voluntary choice to revoke consent-the hallmark of personal autonomy and freedom of choice codified by the Legislature in Chapter 74.34 RCW.

The decision would also affect the public's ability to rely on contracts with and decisions made by vulnerable adults - rendering them a high-risk population with which to do business. That couldn't be what the Legislature intended when it sought to protect vulnerable adults in Chapter 74.34 RCW. Indeed, as the age of our state's population continues to rise, the rights of vulnerable adults vis-à-vis DSHS now more than ever need to be clarified. The long-term effects of vulnerable adults' decisions being subject to DSHS's unauthorized and unwarranted interference and the public's inability to rely on those decisions could be devastating. Review is warranted to protect the autonomy, freedom of choice, and the public's trust in the decisions of all vulnerable adults in Washington.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the trial court err as a matter of law in refusing to vacate the VAPO entered against the vulnerable adult's brother under RCW 74.34.163? This issue involves multiple questions:

1. Is judicial discretion allowed when a vulnerable adult seeks to vacate a protection order protecting themselves that was obtained by

DSHS when RCW 74.34.067(7) provides vulnerable adults the unrestricted right to withdraw protective services such as protections orders that are obtained by DSHS?

- 2. Does DSHS have authority to oppose a vulnerable adults statutorily authorized application to vacate a VAPO under RCW 74.34.163 when RCW 74.34.150 expressly limits DSHS's authority to taking action under RCW 74.34.110 through RCW 74.34.140, and then only under limited conditions?
- 3. Does DSHS have the authority to claim it's acting on a vulnerable adults behalf when a competent vulnerable adult, represented by a private attorney, has expressly revoked their consent for DSHS to act on their behalf that is expressly required by RCW 74.34.150?
- 4. Does a vulnerable adult consenting to receive services from DSHS, forever reduce the clear, cogent, and convincing standard needed to over ride a vulnerable adult's choices go away even when a litigation guardian ad litem and a Superior Court Judge have ruled the vulnerable adult's choice valid and in their best interests?
- 5. Can DSHS oppose a vulnerable adults efforts to refuse DSHS services and have them withdrawn to fulfill DSHS's interests to maintain VAPO findings so they can use them in regulatory administrative actions that don't provide any benefit to the vulnerable adult and increase the vulnerable adult's legal fees because they must deal with DSHS's opposition?

The trial court answered these questions by issuing a published opinion diminishing the rights of vulnerable adults and increasing the scope and limits on the authority of DSHS beyond what the Legislature expressly authorized and creating a situation the Legislature was trying to prevent.

Without reexamining these issues, the increasing population of aging seniors

will not only become vulnerable to their aging conditions but the increasing and unrestrained power given to DSHS in this decision.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Thomas Winter is 71 years old. Morris Winter is 63 years old. They are brothers who grew up and were raised in Seattle.

Over five years ago, DSHS sought and obtained a vulnerable adult protection order (VAPO) on Tom's behalf against Morris. The VAPO required Morris to return a dog that Morris had been caring for per his brother's wishes. [1] Morris did so the following day. The VAPO lasted five years and restrained Morris from committing or threatening to commit any acts of abandonment, abuse, neglect, or financial exploitation.

Morris did not appeal from the VAPO. One day after the VAPO appeal-deadline expired, Tom filed a civil lawsuit against Morris, using the VAPO findings as the only basis to support his allegations.

After contentious litigation, Tom and Morris resolved all of their legal disputes in a binding CR 2A settlement agreement (the *Agreement*). That Agreement, which arose out of a two-day mediation, was signed by the

Contrary to misrepresentations of the record made below by DSHS, the VAPO had nothing to do with financial exploitation, and there has never been a finding of financial exploitation entered against Morris and both the police and APS concluded that no financial exploitation occurred. CP 938

brothers, their attorneys, and Tom's Title 4 litigation guardian ad litem. In the Agreement, to undo the damages that his prior unsubstantiated allegations caused Morris, Tom agreed to fully cooperate with efforts to fully vacate the VAPO because (among other reasons) DSHS had misinterpreted records and statements that led to inaccurate VAPO findings. CP 105.

With the support of his brother Morris, Tom through his private attorney filed a petition to fully vacate the VAPO under RCW 74.34.163. Tom sought to vacate the VAPO (1) to clear his brother's name; (2) to erase the history purportedly supporting the VAPO because DSHS had misinterpreted statements and records that led to inaccurate VAPO findings; and (3) to resume a supportive relationship with his brother. The petition was supported by a declaration from Tom stating:

- * I request that this Court enter an order fully vacating the VAPO and expunging it from all records to clear Morris's name.
- * I have reconciled all issues surrounding the VAPO with my brother. I no longer want the VAPO or its findings to impair our ability to have a supportive brother relationship going forward.
- * I recently fully revoked my consent for APS to provide any services, including action to uphold the VAPO, by properly initialing and signing the consent form to show I 'do not want' any services from APS. I no longer want APS or its representatives to represent my interests related to this VAPO action or any other actions related to my brother Morris.

CP 1922-23.

Despite that Tom had revoked his consent for DSHS to represent his interests or to provide him any protective services, DSHS opposed Tom's petition to vacate the VAPO. CP 1926.

At the hearing on the application to vacate the VAPO, Tom's counsel asked if Thomas could speak, and she later stated she had concerns about Thomas's capacity. Tom neither says anything relevant to the application to vacate the VAPO nor retracts his support for vacating the VAPO. But the commissioner denied the brothers' joint application to vacate, despite no testimony or evidence that Tom lacked the capacity by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence and no retraction of Tom's declaration wanting the VAPO to be vacated.

Morris timely filed a motion for revision in superior court of the order denying Tom's petition to vacate the VAPO. Tom did not participate in that proceeding. The superior court denied Morris's motion to revise the commissioner's order. It entered four findings to support its order: (1) Tom is not present asking the Court to revise; (2) Tom does not appear to be able to adhere to the CR2A settlement agreement; (3) the court has significant concerns about Tom's capacity to enter the settlement agreement, his declaration, and now; and (4) the parties failed to include DSHS in the negotiations of the CR 2A settlement agreement. CP 2473-74.

Morris appealed. Tom did not file any briefs on appeal, and DSHS again opposed the efforts to vacate the VAPO.

The Court of Appeals, in a published decision, affirmed the lower court's rulings. It first erroneously applied an abuse-of-discretion standard to review the superior court's decision denying the petition to vacate the VAPO. *Winter*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 839. It refused to address the merits of Morris's principal argument that DSHS lacked the statutory authority to oppose a vulnerable adult's own request to vacate a VAPO, stating merely in dictum that DSHS's "continued involvement *appears* to be authorized by the statute and the fact that it was a party to the underlying proceedings." *Id.* at 840-41. And it incorrectly concluded that the standard of proof for vacating a VAPO is the preponderance standard-and not clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. *Id.* at 841-42.

IV. REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW

A. Vacating a VAPO is a statutory right of the vulnerable adult and not subject to any judicial discretion.

The Court of Appeals erred in ruling the vacation of a VAPO by a protected person is a matter subject to judicial discretion. The statute applicable to this VAPO expressly gives the vulnerable adult the right to

withdraw all protective services provided by DSHS. RCW 74.34.067(7). Chapter 74.34 RCW identifies DSHS's efforts involving protection orders as protective services subject to the vulnerable adult's right to withdraw those services. *Compare* RCW 74.34.020(19) (defining "protective services"), *with* RCW 74.34.150 (limiting the circumstances under which DSHS "may seek relief").

The Court of Appeals cited this Court's prior decision in *Freeman* to extrapolate a rule stemming from the domestic-violence context that a trial court has judicial discretion to decide whether to vacate a VAPO. *Winter*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 838-39 (citing *Freeman v. Freeman*, 169 Wn.2d 664, 239 P.3d 557 (2010)). In *Freeman*, the protection order was obtained by the protected person, and termination of the order was opposed by the protected person. By contrast, chapter 74.34 RCW applies and the circumstances are very different. The protected person petitioned (rather than opposed) to fully vacate - not terminate - a protection order obtained by third-party, DSHS. The protected person was exercising his express, unrestricted statutory right to withdraw protective services provided by DSHS, RCW 74.34.067(7), using the procedure specified in RCW 74.34.163.

Nothing in the plain language of RCW 74.34.163 permits a trial court to deny a vulnerable adult's right to vacate a VAPO when that vulnerable adult (1) is represented by competent private counsel, (2) has withdrawn his consent to receive any protective services from DSHS, and (3) wants the VAPO to be vacated to resume a supportive relationship with his brother.

B. This case presents an issue of substantial public interest because the Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that DSHS has the right to oppose a nonconsenting vulnerable adult's right to vacate a protection order. RAP 13.4(b)(4)

When the Legislature enacted chapter 74.34 RCW in the 1980s, it gave DSHS no authority to act on behalf of vulnerable adults. Indeed, the Legislature granted express rights only to vulnerable adults that had not previously existed at common law. It was not until 1999 that the Legislature gave DSHS to authority to act on behalf of vulnerable adults in *limited* circumstances. It conditioned this authority on the vulnerable adult's inability to secure legal counsel and on the consent of the vulnerable adult. This ensured that the Legislature's goals of ensuring all vulnerable adults could maintain their autonomy and freedom of choice – the hallmarks of consent and liberty. The Legislature defined "consent" to mean "express written consent granted after the vulnerable adult or his or her legal

representative has been fully informed of the nature of the services to be offered and that the receipt of services is voluntary." RCW 74.34.020(4).

So what limited authority did the Legislature grant to DSHS to act on behalf of consenting vulnerable adults? The Legislature spelled that out in RCW 74.34.150: It may seek relief while offering protective services only under RCW 74.34.110 through 74.34.140. See RCW 74.34.150. Those statutes authorized DSHS to act to seek to obtain a protection order for a consenting vulnerable adult and to assist with ordering a peace officer to execute the protection order.

It is well established that an "agency has only the authority granted by statute." *Wash. Independent Tel. Ass'n v. Wash. Utils. & Transp. Comm'n*, 148 Wn.2d 887, 901, 64 P.3d 606 (2003). Nothing in RCW 74.34.163 specifically, authorizes DSHS to oppose a vulnerable adult's right to vacate a protection order under RCW 74.34.163 and hold that DSHS has no authority to oppose a nonconsenting vulnerable adult's right to vacate a VAPO. *Rousso v. State*, 170 Wn.2d 70, 75, 239 P.3d 1084 (2010).

The Legislature's findings support this interpretation. It found many vulnerable adults to be home bound or otherwise unable to represent themselves in court or to retain legal counsel. RCW 74.34.005. To fill this void, it permitted DSHS to represent some vulnerable adults who consented

to protective services or who could not consent to those services and retain legal counsel.

Here the vulnerable adult did not consent to DSHS's services. Nor was the vulnerable adult unable to retain legal counsel. In fact, he proactively revoked the consent of DSHS to provide protective services with the assistance and endorsement of his private attorney. At all relevant times during the proceedings below, the vulnerable adult was represented by competent legal counsel. His declaration, which requested the court to vacate the VAPO, was drafted and signed with the help of his attorney. And he and his attorney both signed an DSHS-approved form expressly revoking DSHS's authority to act on his behalf and attesting that DSHS "had misinterpreted records and statements that led to inaccurate VAPO findings." CP 1926. A King County Superior Court Judge even validated the vulnerable adult's goal and contractual obligation to seek fully vacating the VAPO.

In addition, RCW 74.34.163 – which gives vulnerable adults the right to vacate a VAPO – does not give DSHS the authority to oppose – let alone participate in – a vulnerable adult's petition to vacate a VAPO. Unlike many other provisions of chapter 74.34 RCW, the Legislature omitted any reference to DSHS in RCW 74.34.163.

Legislative intent is derived "solely from the statute's plain language." Segura v. Cabrera, 184 Wn.2d 587, 591, 362 P.2d 1278 (2015). This Court "must not add words where the legislature has chosen not to include them." State v. Arlene's Flowers, 193 Wn.2d 469, 509, 441 P.3d 1203 (2019). "It is not up to the court to rewrite . . . a statute nor construe it free of the legislature's plainly expressed meaning." Tegman v. Accident & Med. Investigations, 150 Wn.2d 102, 115, 75 P.3d 497 (2003). "Omissions are deemed to be exclusions." Wash. State Dep't of Transp. v. Mullen Trucking, Ltd., 194 Wn.2d 526, 451 P.3d 312, 320 (2019). "Nothing is to be added to what the text states or reasonably implies [A] matter not covered is to be treated as not covered." Antonin Scalia & Bryan Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 93 (2012). When the legislature "includes particular language in one section of a statute but omits it in another, the exclusion is presumed intentional." Perez-Cristanos v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 187 Wn.2d 669, 680, 389 P.3d 476 (2017).

Here the legislature clearly intended to give vulnerable adults the right to vacate a VAPO. It also intended to prohibit DSHS from interfering with that right in any manner; otherwise it would have granted DSHS the authority to vacate, modify, or oppose a vulnerable adult's request to vacate a VAPO. But the Court of Appeals' Decision flouts the Legislature's intent

by permitting DSHS to oppose a vulnerable adult's right to vacate a VAPO and to interfere with a family unit set on restoring a strong brotherly relationship. Review is warranted to correct the Court of Appeals' misinterpretation of chapter 74.34 RCW and to restore the rights the Legislature granted solely to all vulnerable adults in Washington.

C. This case presents a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

A protection order "implicates the vulnerable adult's liberty and autonomy interests." *In re Knight*, 178 Wn. App. 929, 930-31, 317 P.3d 1068 (2014). Refusing to vacate a VAPO against a vulnerable adult's wishes "restricts an individual's liberty and autonomy interests[.]" *Id.* at 939. "The protection order may prevent the vulnerable adult from freely interacting with the person against whom the protection order is granted." *Id.* "It also may prevent the vulnerable adult from giving gifts or providing support to the restrained person or inviting the restrained person onto her property." *Id.* at 940.

Thus, to the extent a trial court has discretion to consider whether to grant a vulnerable adult's request to vacate a VAPO, clear, cogent, and convincing evidence must be shown that the vulnerable adult requires

continuing protection from the restrained person. Because "a contested vulnerable adult protection order case implicates the vulnerable adult's liberty and autonomy interests like a guardianship does, the standard of proof for a vulnerable adult protection order contested by the alleged vulnerable adult is clear, cogent, and convincing evidence, as it is with a guardianship." *Knight*, 178 Wn. App. at 935-36, 940.

The record here reflects that neither the commissioner nor the superior court correctly applied the clear-cogent-and-convincing standard to determine that vacating the VAPO was not in Tom's best interests. The Court of Appeals sanctioned the lower courts' decision by refusing to remand to have the superior court correctly apply the *Knight* standard to Tom's motion to vacate.

D. Even though the VAPO by its terms expired in June 2020, this appeal is not moot.

Morris expects that DSHS will argue in its answer to this petition that this appeal is moot because the VAPO expired about two months ago. DSHS is wrong.

A case is considered moot if there is no longer a controversy between the parties, if the question is merely academic, or if a substantial question no longer exists. *Price v. Price*, 174 Wn. App. 894, 902, 301 P.3d 486 (2013). Morris Winter Petition for Supreme Court Review

But a case is not moot if a court can still provide effective relief.

Pentagram Corp. v. City of Seattle, 28 Wn. App. 219, 223, 622 P.2d 892

(1981). Effective relief includes cleansing a person's record and reputation of the "continuing stigma" of a protection order. Hough v. Stockbridge, 113

Wn. App. 532, 537, 54 P.3d 192 (2002) (holding that the appeal was not moot because the nonprotected parties sought to cleanse their record of the continuing stigma of the antiharassment protection order), rev'd on other grounds, 150 Wn.2d 234, 76 P.3d 216 (2003); see also Littleton v. Grover,

No. 51217-3-II, 2019 WL 1150759, at *3 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 12, 2019) (unpublished nonbinding decision) (holding that the appeal was not moot because the court could still provide effective relief by removing any stigma of the anti-harassment protection order).

Because DSHS and Adult Protective Services misinterpreted records and statements that led to inaccurate findings, one of the mutual goals of the brothers' settlement agreement was to clear Morris's name. To accomplish that goal, Thomas agreed to cooperate fully with efforts to fully vacate the VAPO and to have the APS finding dismissed. CP 20. Morris has been publicly stigmatized by the VAPO and its findings, and he rightly wishes to have his record cleansed from this stigmatization. This Court can still

provide Morris with effective relief, consistent with the brothers' goals in their settlement agreement, by removing any stigma of the VAPO.

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