FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/21/2020 11:47 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO.98703-3

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES, on behalf of

THOMASJ. WINTER

Respondent,

v.

MORRISA. WINTER,

Appellant.

### ANSWER TO MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

PATRICIA L. ALLEN Assistant Attorney General WSBA #27109 Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-7045

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

### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The motion for discretionary review should be denied because the petitioner fails to establish that any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b) apply to this case. Morris' allegations of errors in the Court of Appeals decision are fact-specific and do not raise an issue of substantial public interest, nor do they implicate the state or federal constitution.

Trial courts are granted discretion in matters concerning the welfare of vulnerable adults, and while they must respect the vulnerable adult's right to make autonomous decisions consistent with their abilities, trial courts must also assess the extent of any impairments that may limit the ability of vulnerable adults to act protectively on their own behalf. RCW 74.34.130, RCW 74.34.135. The Department's role in these cases under RCW Chapter 74.34 is to fill in the gap between the needs of a vulnerable adult and the vulnerable adult's ability to meet those needs. *See, e.g.,* RCW 74.34.068 (allowing DSHS to report findings of investigation to care facilities or law enforcement); RCW 74.34.150 (allowing the DSHS to act for a vulnerable adult incapable of consent); RCW 74.34.170 (authorizing DSHS to petition for VAPO).

Although VAPO petitions are evaluated under the clear, cogent, and convincing evidence standard if contested by the vulnerable adult, that standard applies only to issuance of the VAPO, not to an examination of

whether a VAPO should be vacated under RCW 74.34.163. *Compare In re Knight*, 178 Wn. App. 929, 930-31, 317 P.3d 1068 (2014)(evaluating whether a VAPO should issue when an alleged vulnerable adult contests the petition) *with* RCW 74.34.163(Allowing the court to act as deemed necessary when an already adjudicated vulnerable adult moves to vacate a VAPO that is in effect). Because relief under RCW 74.34.163 is discretionary, as is the initial granting or denial of a VAPO, the trial court decision is entitled to substantial deference and should be upheld if it is not an abuse of discretion. *In re Knight*, 178 Wn. App. at 936.

Regarding the RCW 74.34.163 arguments forwarded by Morris, the Court of Appeals correctly dismissed the issue as insufficiently briefed. *Winter v. DSHS*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 841-42. However, even if the briefing had been more substantial, it could not have explained away the discretion granted to the court to act on a motion to vacate "as it deems necessary for the protection of the vulnerable adult..." RCW 74.34.163. Morris' attempts to ignore this statutory language in his argument highlights their lack of persuasive force. PFR at 8-9, 11-12.

Because the Court of Appeals applied well-understood review standards to Morris' arguments under RCW 74.34.163, there is no rationale for review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4).

### A. RCW 74.34.163 Requires Trial Court Discretion In Evaluating Petitions to Vacate a VAPO

Vulnerable adults do not have the unqualified right to vacate a VAPO granted for their protection. RCW 74.34.163 grants the vulnerable adult, and *only* the vulnerable adult or the adult's guardian, the opportunity to petition the court for relief from a VAPO, but retains discretion in the trial court to determine whether that relief will be granted:

Any vulnerable adult who has not been adjudicated fully incapacitated under chapter 11.88 RCW, or the vulnerable adult's guardian, at any time subsequent to entry of a permanent protection order under this chapter, may apply to the court for an order to modify or vacate the order. In a hearing on an application to dismiss or modify the protection order, the court shall grant such relief consistent with RCW 74.34.110 as it deems necessary for the protection of the vulnerable adult, including dismissal or modification of the protection order.

### RCW 74.34.163 (emphasis added).

In this case, not only was the capacity of Thomas to request relief under RCW 74.34.163 placed in doubt by the evidence of a 2017 psychological evaluation, the misgivings of his own attorney, and Thomas' inability or unwillingness to confirm at the hearing that he wished to vacate the order, but the trial court acted as it deemed necessary to protect Thomas, determining that the VAPO should remain in place. CP 2134. The trial court noted that "my focus is on how Thomas reviews it and views it today," and indicated concern that Thomas' focus was on the financial aspects, not

on vacation of the VAPO. CP 2134-2135. Thomas did state, "I don't see how I ruined his [Morris'] name," in reference to the VAPO. CP 2130.

There is no legal issue raised here by the trial court's proper use of discretion under the statute. The focus remained, as appropriate under RCW 74.34.163, on the vulnerable adult and his wishes, not on Morris's feelings of diminished reputation. The Court should not grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

# B. DSHS Involvement in the 2017 Motion to Vacate Was Authorized by Statute

Morris claims that because Thomas issued a written revocation of his consent for DSHS services, DSHS was precluded from opposing the 2017 motion to vacate, but this point is not well taken. PFR at 10-12. Not only was the alleged revocation of consent by Thomas long after DSHS became a party to the VAPO, but it was of dubious value given Thomas' documented decline in the years since the VAPO was entered. CP 1918, 2098-2106. Furthermore, DSHS may act without the vulnerable adult's express consent when the agency has "reason to believe" that the vulnerable adult "lacks the ability or capacity to consent." 74.34.150.4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Morris claims that RCW 74.34.150 does not give the Department authority to participate in a motion to vacate a VAPO under RCW 74.34.163 because the statute mentions only RCW 74.34.110-.140. PFR at 3, 10. But a motion to vacate a VAPO necessarily involves RCW 74.34.110, which provides authority to file a VAPO in the first place and carry out litigation involved in that petition. RCW 74.34.110 is also cited within RCW 74.34.163.

As of the date that the motion to vacate the VAPO was heard, Thomas was unable to effectively participate, as shown by his off-topic statements and his attorney's report that they could not get reliable direction from him as a client. CP 2128-2133. DSHS had clear authority to continue participation in the case based on its long-standing party status and the multiple indications that Thomas was incapable of making rational choices on consent or representation. RCW 74.34.005, 74.34.150; CP 1918, 2098-2106, 2132-2133. This is consistent with the activity in Thomas' litigation against Morris, in which a litigation GAL was appointed to assist Thomas.<sup>5</sup> CP 1918.

The trial court did not err by allowing DSHS to continue as a party in this VAPO proceeding under RCW 74.34.150. This Court should not accept review of this moot case in order to further discuss the clear statutory authority given to the agency in VAPO matters.

## C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Used the Abuse of Discretion Standard in Affirming the Denial of Vacation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This appointment is an example of how business may still be transacted with a vulnerable adult, even if DSHS is providing them support. Morris' concerns in this regard, voiced at page 3 of his PFR, are misplaced, as the law provides legal mechanisms such as GALs and findings of incapacity to provide alternate decision makers when a vulnerable adult is no longer individually capable. *See*, *e.g.* RCW 11.88,010, RCW 4.08.060. Morris may claim that the CR2A agreement was not enforced, but Thomas complied with seeking to vacate the VAPO when he joined his brother's motion. Neither Thomas nor anyone else participating in a VAPO proceeding can contractually eliminate the trial court's discretion under RCW 74.34.163, which was the real reason that the VAPO was not vacated.

Vacating a VAPO requires a different standard than application of the law authorizing issuance of an order in the first place. RCW 74.34.163, the basis for the 2017 attempt to vacate the VAPO here, requires that any decision made by the court must be consistent with "protection of the vulnerable adult." Morris erroneously seeks to impose the legal standard of a fully contested VAPO petition onto the analysis of RCW 74.34.163, with neither contextual support nor citation to relevant authority. PFR at 14. This attempt to greatly increase the burden on a discretionary decision of the trial court does not merit this Court's consideration.

Morris claims that RCW 74.34.163 requires proof from the non-moving party that, at the time of the motion, there is support for the order by a clear and convincing standard of proof. PFR at 14. He bases this questionable legal theory on the case of *In re Knight*, 178 Wn. App. 929, 930-31, 317 P.3d 1068 (2014). *Id.* But the *Knight* case cannot be removed from its context, which is evaluation of the *granting* of a VAPO petition at the original hearing on such petition and over the objection of the person alleged to be a vulnerable adult:

We hold the standard of proof for proving whether the adult is a vulnerable adult in a case contested by the alleged vulnerable adult is clear, cogent, and convincing evidence...

Knight, 178 Wn. App. at 937-37. Knight neither analyzed nor applied RCW 74.34.163. *Id*.

Significantly, the *Knight* standard relates to determining whether an individual is a vulnerable adult who should be protected by a VAPO, something already established in this case by the time Morris sought vacation of the order. CP 129-30, 132-45. Morris is precluded at this point from arguing about how the VAPO was established, both because it is established that Thomas was a vulnerable adult who requested DSHS assistance in establishing the VAPO and because Morris did not timely appeal that original order. CP 129-30. The Court of Appeals was correct in rejecting Morris' collateral attack on the VAPO order.

Morris' arguments do not withstand scrutiny under the abuse of discretion standard because they have rested largely on the contested issue of whether Thomas in fact supported vacation of the VAPO. PFR at 7, 11; CP 2125, 2132, 2134. The superior court found based on substantial evidence in the record that Thomas did not or could not retract his consent. CP 2134-2135. This evidence included a recent evaluation by a psychologist who had met Thomas and studied his taped interactions with Morris, along with assertions by Thomas' attorney that he had fluctuating capacity and could not provide guidance for the representation on the date of the 2017 hearing. CP 1918, 2132-2133, 2098-2106. The Court of Appeals rightly found no abuse of discretion and rightly deferred to the trial court's weighing of the facts given the substantial evidence that Thomas

had neither recanted his allegations nor credibly moved to vacate the order. CP 1918, 2132-2133, 2098-2106; *Winter v. DSHS*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 839-42.

RAP 13.4 (b)(3) provides no basis for review of Morris' incorrect legal arguments regarding denial of the motion to vacate, and review should be denied by this Court.

# D. There Is No Constitutional Issue Raised By The Trial Court's Weighing Of Evidence In This Case

An order protecting a vulnerable adult is only entered after it is determined that the person involved is indeed vulnerable under the statutory definition and that they either consent or are afforded a trial on the petition. RCW 74.34.020(22), RCW 74.34.110. The VAPO in this case was based on consent, and once entered, it invoked the trial court's jurisdiction to protect Thomas, who is undisputedly a vulnerable adult, as provided by RCW Chapter 74.34. CP 128-31, 243-50. RCW 74.34.163 allows, but does not require, vacation of a VAPO when the vulnerable adult requests it, similar to other forms of protection orders, such as Domestic Violence Protection Orders. *See* RCW 26.50.130 (6) (Court "may" terminate DVPO on petition of protected person). The trial court considered, but rejected, Thomas' request to vacate the VAPO because it was not convinced that he

truly sought that relief. CP 2125- 2134. Thomas' autonomy was fully respected through this process and no constitutional violation occurred.

Morris argues, without the support of Thomas, <sup>6</sup> that the decision not to vacate the VAPO in 2017 implicated Thomas' liberty and autonomy interests such that this Court should review the decision. PFR at 13-14. But he depends entirely on the *Knight* decision for this assertion, and cites to no specific constitutional provision of either the U.S. Constitution or the Washington State Constitution. Id. Furthermore, Morris makes the same error in asserting a constitutional violation as he does in claiming that the standard for vacating a VAPO was not met: he applies the standard for establishing a VAPO against the wishes of a vulnerable adult to the standard expressed in RCW 74.34.163 for vacating an already-established VAPO. *Id.* As explained above, the *Knight* case does not interpret RCW 74.34.163 because it does not deal with a VAPO established under appropriate procedure and with the consent of the vulnerable adult. *Knight*, 178 Wn. App. at 937-40. Morris cannot rely on this inapplicable case law to assert a vague constitutional violation in the trial court's unremarkable application

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Morris' standing to raise the issue of Thomas' constitutional rights is questionable. *See, e.g. Blomstrom v. Tripp* 189 Wn.2d 379, 390, 402 P.3d 831 (2017) (Those raising constitutional rights must be personally impacted by the alleged constitutional violation). But even as an intellectual argument, Morris has not supported the theory that the application of RCW 74.34.163 in this case raises constitutional concerns. Pet. For Review at 13-14.

of RCW 74.34.163. He has not shown a reason under RAP 13.4(b)(3) for this Court to accept review.

This case raises no legal issue sufficient to meet the standard for review by this Court, nor is it of constitutional magnitude. Neither DSHS nor other parties are in need of this Court's further guidance on the well-established principles dealt with by the Court of Appeals below. Review should be denied.

### V. CONCLUSION

The motion for discretionary review does not meet the requirements of RAP 13.4(b), and the Department requests this Court deny review.